ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 18, 2010
8:05 a.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bob Lynn, Chair
Representati ve Paul Seaton, Vice Chair
Representative Carl Gatto

Representati ve Peggy W1 son
Representati ve Max G uenberg
Representati ve Pete Petersen

MEMBERS ABSENT
Representative Craig Johnson
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO 292
"An Act relating to grants to victinms of a disaster in this
state; and providing for an effective date."

- MOVED HB 292 QUT OF COW TTEE

HOUSE JO NT RESOLUTI ON NO. 38

Proposi ng anmendnents to the Constitution of the State of Al aska
relating to and increasing the nunber of menbers of the house of
representatives to forty-eight and the nunber of nenbers of the
senate to twenty-four.

- MOVED CSHIJR 38(STA) QUT OF COW TTEE
HOUSE BI LL NO. 115
"An Act establishing a permanent absentee voting option for
gualified voters; and providing for an effective date."
- MOVED CSHB 115(STA) OQUT OF COWM TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 292

SHORT TI TLE: GRANTS TO DI SASTER VI CTI M5
SPONSOR(s) : RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR

01/ 19/ 10 (H READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -1- February 18, 2010



01/ 19/ 10 (H M.V, STA, FIN

02/ 02/ 10 (H M.V AT 1: 00 PM BARNES 124
02/ 02/ 10 (H Heard & Held

02/ 02/ 10 (H M NUTE( M_V)

02/ 04/ 10 (H M.V AT 1:00 PM BARNES 124
02/ 04/ 10 (H Moved Qut of Conmittee

02/ 04/ 10 (H M NUTE( M_V)

02/ 05/ 10 (H) M.V RPT 5DP 1AM

02/ 05/ 10 (H) DP: LYNN, T.WLSON, HARRI S, BUCH, GATTO
02/ 05/ 10 (H AM  KAWASAKI

02/ 16/ 10 (H STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106
02/ 16/ 10 (H Heard & Held

02/ 16/ 10 (H M NUTE( STA)

02/ 18/ 10 (H STA AT 8: 00 AM CAPI TOL 106

Bl LL: HJR 38
SHORT TITLE: CONST. AM | NCREASE NUMBER OF LEG SLATORS
SPONSOR(s): P. W LSON

01/ 19/ 10 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 19/ 10 (H) STA, JUD, FIN

02/ 02/ 10 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

02/ 02/ 10 (H) Heard & Hel d

02/ 02/ 10 (H) M NUTE( STA)

02/ 18/ 10 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106
BILL: HB 115

SHORT TI TLE: PERMANENT ABSENTEE VOTI NG
SPONSOR('s): BUCH

02/ 04/ 09 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 04/ 09 (H) STA, FIN

03/ 17/ 09 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

03/ 17/ 09 (H) Heard & Hel d

03/ 17/ 09 (H) M NUTE( STA)

02/ 18/ 10 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

W TNESS REG STER

M CHAEL O HARE, Deputy Director

Di vision of Honel and Security/ Energency Managenent

Department of Mlitary & Veterans Affairs

Fort Ri chardson, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Reviewed the key points of HB 292 and
answered questions on behalf of the House Rules Commttee,
sponsor by request of the governor.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -2- February 18, 2010



KARLA SCHOFI ELD, Deputy Director

Account i ng

Legi sl ative Adm nistrative Services

Legi slative Affairs Agency

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions during the hearing on
HIR 38.

REPRESENTATI VE BOB BUCH

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Spoke as prine sponsor of HB 115.

GAIL FENUM Al, Director

D vi sion of Elections

O fice of the Lieutenant Governor

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on HB
115.

AL DAVI DSON
Littl eton, Col orado
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 115.

JEFFREY A. M TTMAN, Executive Director

Anmerican G vil Liberties Union (ACLU) of Al aska Foundati on
Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 115.

LARRY BENSON, President

Anmerican Postal Wrkers Union Anerican Federation of Labor and
Congress of Industrial Organizations (APW AFL-CIO - M dnight
Sun Area Local 2756

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 115.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

8:05:16 AM

CHAIR BOB LYNN called the House State Affairs Standing Commttee
nmeeting to order at 8:05 a.m Representatives Seaton, Gatto,
Wl son, Petersen, and Lynn were present at the call to order.

Representative G uenberg arrived as the neeting was in progress.

HB 292- GRANTS TO DI SASTER VI CTI M5

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 3- February 18, 2010



8:05:43 AM

CHAI R LYNN announced the first order of business was HOUSE BILL
NO. 292, "An Act relating to grants to victinse of a disaster in
this state; and providing for an effective date."

8:06:18 AM

M CHAEL O HARE, Deputy Director, Di vi si on of Honel and
Security/ Enmergency Managenent, Departnent of Mlitary & Veterans
Affairs, reviewed that the proposed legislation would increase
state individual assistance in a state-declared disaster from a
cap of $5,000 to half the anpbunt of that which is given through

f eder al i ndi vi dual assi st ance, which fluctuates wth the
consuner price index. A task force nmet and determ ned that
$5,000 was not enough and an increase is necessary. The task

force included representatives fromthe follow ng agencies: the
Department of Commerce, Comunity, & Econom c¢ Devel opnent, the
Department of Health and Social Services, the D vision of
Honel and Security/ Enmergency Managenent, the Al aska Housing
Fi nance Corporation, and the American Red Cross, and other
vol unteer organizations active in disaster issues. The task
force made the decision that the best nodel to nodernize
i ndi vi dual assistance to today's econonmy would be to provide
half of the federal individual assistance, which currently is
approxi mately $30, 000. The proposed bill would increase the
state individual assistance grant to half of that, or
approximately $15,000 as a maximum cap to those victins of a
state decl ared disaster.

8:08: 50 AM

MR OHARE related that the spring floods in 2009 were
devastating to conmunities in Al aska - the event was a federally
decl ared di saster. Qut of the 40 communities affected, there
were approximately 30 households that did not qualify for
federal assistance, and all the state was allowed by statute to
provide for their individual assistance was $5,000, which M.
O Hare said truly was not enough. He said the recommendati on of
the task force is in the proposed |egislation. He expl ai ned
that the proposed anmobunt is needed to "provide equity in the
recovery process,"” not to "nmake them whole."

8:09:44 AM

MR. O HARE described the relief process to the commttee. He
said the state does not sinply wite checks. | ndi vi dual

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- February 18, 2010



assi stance officers run disaster assistance field centers in the
communities where staff nmenbers accept applications from victins
and verify the loss through on-site visits, photographs, and
receipts, or t hr ough cross-verification st at enent s from
community | eadership. The officers also verify that the victins
could not otherw se recover on their own, either using their own

finances or through insurance. The individual assistance
officers cross-reference that information to determ ne whether
there has been any past disaster nonconpliance. M. O Hare

of fered to answer questions.
8:10: 53 AM

MR. O HARE, in response to Representative Seaton, explained that
if a federal disaster is declared, victinmns would apply for
federal disaster relief and could qualify for the maxinum
$30, 000; however, victins could not receive both the $30,000 and
the state relief grant noney, just one or the other.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON said that was his understandi ng, but noted
that the language in the bill does not support that. He
directed attention to [paragraph (1)], on page 1, beginning on
line 10, which read as foll ows:

(1) when the President declares a mgjor
di saster, the governor may nmake a grant of an anount
whose total of federal and state shares does not
exceed the maximum anount authorized by 42 U S C
5174(h) [42 U S. C 5178(f)] for grants payable to
i ndividuals and fam i es;

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON said he interprets that |anguage to nean
that the state grant is limted to the amount of the federa
grant . For example, he said, if the federal grant had been
$7,000, the state could grant up to $7,000, but no nore.

MR. O HARE explained that individuals in a federally declared
di saster could qualify for grant noney up to the maxi mum  Using
Representative Seaton's exanple, he said if the victimqualified
for $7,000 of federal noney, the state is required to give 25
percent of that $7, 000.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON said he is trying to figure out the
meani ng of: "the governor may make a grant of an anount whose
total of federal and state shares does not exceed the maxi munt.
He asked if 42 U S.C. 5174(h) refers "the $29, 000 cap."

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 5- February 18, 2010



MR. O HARE confirmed that 42 U S.C. 5174(h) contains the federa
cap. He reviewed the | anguage in Section 1(b)(1) and (2). M.

O Hare stated, "That's correct, in a federally declared
di saster, the governor can provide for up to that anount - that
$30,000. They will be reinbursed by the federal governnment for

the anmount, less 25 percent.” In response to a followup

guestion from Representative Seaton, he confirnmed that that
requirenent is witten in federal regulations.

8:15:42 AM

REPRESENTATI VE PETERSEN asked how the 30 aforenentioned Al askans
qualified for state aid, but not for federal aid.

MR. O HARE explained that the state declaration [related to the
af orenenti oned 2009 flooding] enconpassed a wde area of
affected river comunities. He said, "They would not qualify
for a federal declaration if the conmunity as a whole was not
wi dely affected, but there were individuals that were affected.
So, a federal declaration may not enconpass the entire state
decl ared area.™

8:16: 36 AM

CHAIR LYNN, after ascertaining that there was no one else who
wi shed to testify, closed public testinony.

8:16:46 AM

REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG expressed concern that the proposed
bill would not raise the cap even higher; however, he said he
does not want to "kill the bill wth Kkindness." He concl uded

then, that he would not be offering an anendnent to that end.
8:17: 34 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO directed attention to |anguage on page 2,
beginning on line 1, which states that if the governor declares

a disaster energency, "the governor may neke a grant of an
anount not to exceed one-half of the nmaxinmum grant anount
established under (1) of this subsection”. Representative Gatto
said, "There's no reference to this grant.” He surmsed that it

could be "a brand new grant outside of all other grants,” and
of fered his understanding that that would nean that the governor
could give a victim - as another grant - half of the maxi num
anount of the federal grant.

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 6- February 18, 2010



MR. O HARE confirned that is correct.
REPRESENTATI VE GATTO said, "So, we have two grants here."

MR O HARE reiterated that either the federal or the state grant
can be given, not both.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO asked M. O Hare to provide an exanple as a
means of clarification.

MR. O HARE proffered:

For exanpl e purposes, Representative Gatto, you are a
disaster victimin a federally declared disaster area.
You are qualified to receive up to the federal limt
of $30, 000, approximately, and that is your maxi num
I, Mke O Hare, being a disaster victim in a state
declared area or those victinms we just talked about

woul d be, wunder this provision, ... entitled to
receive up to half of that in a state grant. So, that
woul d be the difference.

8:20:51 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON said part of his confusion is a result of
there being no language in the proposed legislation that says
the departnment shall seek reinbursenment from the federa
governnent for the grant. He surm sed that that |anguage nay be
in sone other section that is not being nodified in HB 292.

MR. O HARE confirmed that is correct; the |language is contained
in 44 U S C In response to Chair Lynn, he suggested that any
confusion that commttee nenbers may be experiencing could be
cleared up by providing the I|anguage of that federal code;
however, he opined that anending the bill may "nmuddy the waters
as to the calculation fornula - the process."

8:23:28 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG stated his understanding that federa
| aw provides the mechanism for reinbursenent; therefore the
state does not need to have related |language in its own law in
order to seek reinbursenent fromthe federal governnent.

MR. O HARE responded that is correct.

8:24: 07 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- February 18, 2010



MR O HARE, in response to Representative Petersen, confirnmed

that "doubl e dipping" - being awarded grant reinbursenment from
both the state and the federal government - is not a
possibility.

8:24:39 AM

M5. WLSON related that she found the analysis in the fiscal
not e hel pful.

8:24:57 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG noved to report HB 292 out of committee
with individual recomendations and the acconpanying fiscal
notes. There being no objection, HB 292 was reported out of the
House State Affairs Standing Conmtt ee.

8:25:17 AM

The conmmttee took an at-ease from8:25 a.m to 8:27 a.m

HIR 38- CONST. AM | NCREASE NUMBER OF LEG SLATORS

[Not on the recording, but reconstructed from the comittee
secretary’s log notes, was the follow ng:]

CHAI R LYNN announced that the next order of business was HOUSE
JONT RESOLUTION NO 38, Proposing anendnents to the
Constitution of the State of Alaska relating to and increasing
t he nunber of nmenbers of the house of representatives to forty-
ei ght and the nunber of nenbers of the senate to twenty-four

REPRESENTATIVE P. WLSON reviewed the resolution. She not ed
that Representative Seaton had an anendnment prepared to which
she does not object.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON noved to adopt Anmendnment 1, |abeled 26-
LS1323\ A. 1, Cook, 2/15/10, which read as foll ows:

Page 1, line 2:
Delete "forty-eight"
I nsert "forty-four"

Page 1, line 3:

Del ete "twenty-four"
I nsert "twenty-two"

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 8- February 18, 2010



Page 1, lines 7 - 8:
Del ete "twenty-four
I nsert "twenty-two"

Page 1, line 8:
Delete "forty-eight”
Insert "forty-four"

Page 1, line 12:
Delete "forty-eight"
I nsert "forty-four"

Page 1, line 13:
Del ete "twenty-four
I nsert "twenty-two"

Page 2, line 7:
Delete "forty-eight"
I nsert "forty-four"

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG obj ected for di scussion purposes.
REPRESENTATI VE SEATON spoke to Amendnent 1.

8:31:36 AM

[ Recordi ng begi ns again here.]

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON noted that the original fiscal note, dated
1/29/ 10, shows a 2016 total of $4,470,000, while the total for
2016 shown in the new fiscal note, dated 2/16/10, is $2,342,000
- nearly half the anmount of the original fiscal note.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG renmoved his objection to Amendnent 1.
There being no further objection, Arendnent 1 was adopt ed.

8:32:26 AM

REPRESENTATI VE P. WLSON expl ained that through the adoption of
Amendnent 1, the proposed bill now calls for fewer |egislators,
which would result in a reduction in the total of the fiscal
not e, because it would not be necessary to reconstruct
| egi sl ative chanbers or hire as many staff. She said not only
woul d the overall cost of running the |legislature be |ower, but
the districts would remain about the sane size as they currently
are. In response to Representative Gatto, she clarified that

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 9- February 18, 2010



she meant square mles of each district would remain about the
sane.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO said he does not know how that could be
possi bl e.

8:34:11 AM
CHAI R LYNN cl osed public testinony.
8:34:39 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON directed attention to information in the
commttee packet, regarding population trends for election
districts in 2010, and noted that the average popul ation per
el ection district, from 2000 U S. Census data, was 15,673.
Under the proposed bill, as anended, the nunber of people each
House district would represent would average 15, 735, or
approximately 50 nore people in each election district. He said

sonme election districts will change in size, and new el ection
districts will be added to areas where the population has
expanded - predom nately the Matanuska/Susitna area. He said it
is difficult to predict the changes that wll be forthcom ng.

He expl ai ned the reason he offered Anmendnent 1 was that it would
be a way to keep the election districts as close as possible to
their current popul ations.

8:37: 07 AM

REPRESENTATI VE P. WLSON said the areas |osing population would
remai n about the sanme as they are currently, while areas grow ng
in population would actually gain another Representative. In
response to a question from Representative Gatto, she said it is
true that areas gaining population would get additional
representation no matter what the |egislature decides regarding
t he proposed | egislation.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO asked then what the inpetus for HIR 38 was.
REPRESENTATIVE P. WLSON said the push for this legislation is
an attenpt to be fair to all constituents and |egislators, and
to make it possible for all the citizens of the state to make
contact with their |egislators.

8:40: 06 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 10- February 18, 2010



REPRESENTATI VE GATTO questioned why Representative WIson is not
proposi ng a greater nunber of legislators if she is striving for
equity.

REPRESENTATIVE P. WLSON responded that she is trying to be
r easonabl e.

8:40: 44 AM

REPRESENTATI VE PETERSEN offered his understanding that when the
comm ttee discussed HIR 38 at a previous hearing, it was brought
up that one of the reasons for the proposed legislation was to
avoid the possibility of the State of Alaska finding itself in
violation of the Voting R ghts Act of 1965, [as it relates to
the protection of large mnority concentrations].

8:41:17 AM

REPRESENTATIVE P. WLSON cited |anguage in the Constitution of
the State of Alaska, Article 6, Section 6, regarding legislative
apportionment, which read as foll ows:

Each house district shall be formed of contiguous and
conpact territory containing as nearly as practicable
a relatively integrated soci o-econom c ar ea.

REPRESENTATIVE P. WLSON stated that as districts get bigger,
the state is no longer keeping themw thin the bounds of Article
6, Section 6. She said if the |egislature does not pass HIR 38,
the courts may take over, which she said they already have done
"in all but one of the state's reapportionnents."”

8:42: 58 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO asked if any studies have been done that
show "the difficulties" addressed by the bill sponsor, as well
as nodel solutions from other states.

REPRESENTATI VE P. WLSON responded, "W don't have any studies,
but there has been nuch debate on it, and the courts have
al ready conpl ai ned about it in the past.”

8:45:19 AM
KARLA  SCHOFI ELD, Deputy Director, Account i ng, Legi sl ative

Adm ni strative Services, Legislative Affairs Agency, in response
to Representative G uenberg, said the two-page fiscal note is as

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- February 18, 2010



conplete as it can be; it's ultimte accuracy would depend on
how the redistricting |ines were drawn.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG asked where additional |egislators
woul d be housed if HIR 38 is enacted.

MS. SCHOFI ELD responded that that would depend upon the House
and Senat e Rul es conmi ttees and Legi sl ative Counci | .
Notw t hstanding that, she suggested the following options:
addi ng nore desks to the chanbers, reconfiguring the Thomas B.
Stewart Legislative Ofice Building, decreasing the size of
existing legislative offices, and asking the governor to

consider noving from the capitol to another |ocation. The
latter would entail an expense for the executive branch in
suppl ying another buil ding. In response to a followup
guestion, she said if the offices were to fit wthin the
capitol, it would be necessary to hire architectural services.
She said Accounting tried to | eave surplus noney in the figuring
of the fiscal note "so that ... any option that canme up we could
at |east nove on." In response to further questions, she
stated, "... If we really did put an addition on the capitol or

did something like that, it would be a capital appropriation. I
think the noney that's in there would be sufficient to at | east
make a good start on it, ... it would just depend on what option
| egi sl ators chose. "

8:48: 30 AM

MS. SCHOFI ELD, in response to Representative Gatto, said she has
wor ked for the Alaska State Legislature since 1982. In response
to a followup question, she said she cannot recollect having
ever heard a legislator conplain that he/she has an office that

is too |arge. In response to a question from Representative
Gatto as to whether she has heard conplaints from |egislators
that their offices are too small, she stated, "Actually, nost

| egi sl ators seemto be very accommodati ng, understandi ng how the
capitol building is constructed.”

CHAIR LYNN remarked that he would like to have an intern, but
there is no roomin his office for one.

8:49:17 AM
M5. SCHOFIELD, in response to a question from Representative
Petersen, said currently sonme staff has assigned parking, and

t hose parking assignnents would have to be relinquished in order
to provide enough parking for additional |[|egislators. In

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -12- February 18, 2010



response to a question from Representative Gatto, M. Schofield
said other needs for consideration, for exanple, a child care
facility, would be the purview of the Senate and House Rules
Comm ttees and Legislative Council.

8:51:13 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG noved to report HIR 38, as anended, out
of committee W th i ndi vi dual recommendat i ons and t he
acconpanyi ng fiscal notes. [ The two out of three fiscal notes

in the conmttee packet that would acconpany the proposed
resolution are dated 2/9/10 and 2/16/10.]

8:51:47 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO obj ect ed.

8:51:51 AM

A roll call vote was taken. Representatives WIson, Guenberg,
Pet ersen, Seaton, and Lynn voted in favor of reporting HIR 38,
as anended, out of conmttee. Representative Gtto voted
agai nst it. Therefore, CSHIJR 38(STA) was reported out of the
House State Affairs Standing Conmittee by a vote of 5-1.

The comm ttee took an at-ease from 8:52:21 AMto 8:55:59 AM

HB 115- PERMANENT ABSENTEE VOTI NG

8:56: 07 AM

CHAI R LYNN announced that the final order of business was HOUSE
BILL NO 115, "An Act establishing a permanent absentee voting
option for qualified voters; and providing for an effective
date. "

8:56:34 AM

REPRESENTATI VE BOB BUCH, Alaska State Legislature, as prine
sponsor, said HB 115 would create a pernanent absentee option
for Al aska voters. The proposed |egislation would allow the
Division of Elections to send an absentee ballot for every
election it operates to Alaska voters who have chosen that
opti on. Furthernore, the voter would not have to apply for an
absentee ballot for every election; he/she would have only to
apply once.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 13- February 18, 2010



REPRESENTATI VE BUCH reported that voting by means of a pernanent
absentee ballot 1is gaining popularity across the country;
already 8 states use the system and 21 nore are considering it.
The State of Oregon's systemis the nost well known, has been in
exi stence since the '80s, and was considered when drafting HB
115. Representative Buch said ultimtely HB 115 woul d not nake
any changes to statute or to the procedures that govern the
absentee voting process; it would nerely provide for a permanent
opti on. He related that the proposed |egislation would affect
only those elections run by the Division of Elections, which
means state elections, not nunicipal elections. He said under
HB 115, voters will still have the option of choosing a one-tine
absentee ballot or voting at a regular polling place.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH said the proposed legislation, if enacted,

woul d take effect in 2010. In addition to making voting nore
conveni ent for Al askans, including soldiers, mners, North Sl ope
wor kers, and the elder population, the proposed bill would also

streamline the absentee voting process for the D vision of
El ections by cutting down on paperwork and adm ni strative costs.
He said the division supports the bill and has representatives
ready to testify. Oher supporters include some individuals who
work for the United States Postal Service (USPS)

8:59: 07 AM

REPRESENTATI VE = BUCH, in response to a question from
Representative Guenberg, confirmed that the effective date of
the bill, 1/1/10, would need to be changed, since the bill would

nost |ikely not be nade retroactive. He said he would like the
director of the Division of Elections to address that issue and
reconmend a date that woul d be suitable for the division.

9: 00: 15 AM

REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG sought clarity regarding |anguage on
page 2, lines 11-13, which read as foll ows:

(b) A person nmay supply to a voter a pernanent
absentee voting application form with a political
party or group affiliation indicated only if the voter
is already registered as affiliated with the political
party or group indicated.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH said a person who wants to vote using an

absentee ballot fills out an application. He indicated that the
person's identification is the responsibility of the Division of

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -14- February 18, 2010



El ecti ons. He deferred to the director of the division for
further details. In response to a remark by Chair Lynn, he
confirmed that under HB 115, a person would still have to first
declare party affiliation or non-affiliation before applying for
a permanent absentee ball ot. He reenphasized that the proposed
| egislation would in no way change the current process or
oversight of the election process.

9:02:41 AM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH, in response to Chair Lynn, tal ked about the
advant ages of HB 115. He described the ease of checking off a
box indicating the desire to switch to pernmanent absentee voting
status and not having to reapply for that status each el ection.

9:03:41 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON directed attention to |anguage within the
fiscal note analysis, which read as foll ows:

In order to ensure the integrity of the process, the
division would send confirmation notices at the
beginning of each election year to all voters
desi gnated as permanent absentee voters to ensure the
address on file 1is still accurate. The division
estimates postage and printing costs of $20.0. Thi s
anount would be a recurring cost during even nunbered
el ection years.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON asked for clarification regarding whether
or not the voter would be responsible for returning a card to
t he divi sion.

9:04: 48 AM
REPRESENTATI VE BUCH deferred to Ms. Fenum ai .
9: 05: 25 AM

GAIL FENUM AI, Director, Division of Elections, Ofice of the
Li eutenant Governor, in response to Representative Seaton

described the standard practice of the division as it relates to
absentee voting ballots as follows: The division sends
confirmation notices to all absentee voters, advising them that
according to the division's records, they have requested to
receive an absentee ballot for <certain or all elections
conducted by the state in a calendar year. Refl ected in the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -15- February 18, 2010



notices are the addresses to which the voters have indicated
they want their ballots nail ed. The division asked voters to
notify the division regarding any updates that need to be nade.
If a notice comes back undeliverable, the division checks to
ensure it has not nmade an entry error and, if it has not, marks
the voter's record to reflect such and cancels the ball ot
request for any subsequent el ections.

CHAIR LYNN asked if a person showing up to vote at the polling
pl ace cancels "the other registration.”

M5. FENUM Al responded, "No, that does not have any effect on
themto be able to vote in person at their polling place.”

CHAIR LYNN asked Ms. Fenumiai if she thinks there would be a
hi gher incidence of voter fraud using the proposed permanent
absentee voter systemthan the current system

M5. FENUM Al stated her belief that there would not be a higher
i ncidence of voter fraud, because she said the division has
enough checks and balances in place to verify addresses. When
ballots are returned, they are reviewed by a bi-partisan board
to validate that the identifier provided by the voter is that
voter's true identifier. She said the signing of a ballot is
w tnessed by soneone authorized to admnister an oath or at
| east by one person over the age of 18.

9:07:47 AM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH reported that the State of Oegon has been
of fering permanent absentee voting for a nunber of years and has
had no incidences of increased fraud. He said all voters in
Oregon vote by mail. He noted that M. Fenum ai has had
experience with the State of Oregon's voting system He stated
that that experience and "our"” investigations are two of the
reasons that he is bringing forward this |egislation.

9:08: 48 AM

CHAI R LYNN opined that voting is a privilege, and he nentioned
the threat some people in other countries experience if they do
not vote a certain way. He observed that absentee voting used
to be primarily for those who could not physically get to the
voting polls, but this is no |longer the case. He questioned how
easy the state should make voting for those who are able to get
to the polls.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 16- February 18, 2010



9:10: 27 AM

M5. FENUM Al, in response to Chair Lynn, clarified that she did
not live and vote in Oregon, but observed the system during a
trip to that state to discuss the vote-by-mail system She
noted that a forner chief of staff to fornmer Lieutenant Governor
Fran U nmer transferred to Oregon and was the director of state
el ections there.

9:10: 50 AM

M5. FENUM AlI, in response to Representative WIson, explained
the division's process regarding deaths of registered voters.
She said the division either receives notification directly from
the famly, vital statistics, or obituaries in the newspapers.
The division uses certain information, such as date of birth, as
an identifier to ensure it is inactivating the appropriate
per son.

REPRESENTATIVE P. WLSON said she has a problem with the
proposed | egislation. She shared her past experience having
lived in other states where "there have been dead people that
have voted." She said as of Decenber [2009], the nane of a
friend' s |late husband, who died over a year ago, was still on a
state's voting list. She expressed concern about this issue and
said it makes her "a little leery."

9:13:19 AM

M5. FENUM Al responded that when soneone applies for an absentee
by-mail ballot, he/she nust provide a unique identifier. Usi ng
the scenario described by Representative WIson, she said a
person would not be able to get a by-mail ballot using a dead
person's nanme, because they would not be able to prove identity
through one of +the identifiers required by state |aw when
applying to vote by mail.

REPRESENTATIVE P. WLSON clarified her concern is that if the
proposed | egislation allows permanent absentee voting, a person
could "do it for quite awhile" before the division catches
hi nf her .

M5. FENUM Al replied that under HB 115, if the person applies to
be an absentee voter, the ballot would continue to be sent to
the person's mailing address. She said she assunes that would
be a residential address, and [if the person died], a spouse or
famly menber mght take the responsibility to contact the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -17- February 18, 2010



di vi si on. If sonmeone did contact the division and the
division's staff did not renobve the person's nanme, a correction
woul d have to be nade. |If soneone were to try to vote in person
using the deceased person's nane, he/she would be found out,
because voters nust show photograph identification at the
pol I'ing pl ace.

CHAIR LYNN questioned whether an adult in the hone of the
deceased coul d use the deceased person's absentee ballot.

M5. FENUM Al responded that the ballot nust be wtnessed by
sormeone who can verify the identity of the voter.

CHAI R LYNN suggested that another adult in the house could bear
fal se witness.

M5. FENUM Al said she supposes that could happen; however, she
said the division has seen no docunented cases of that
happeni ng. Furthernore, she said [using the ballot of a
deceased person] is a felony.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH poi nted out that absentee voting is already
in place, so "the incidences of that fraud would not be enhanced
or detracted by this opportunity.”

M5. FENUM Al echoed Representative Buch's remark and reiterated
that the division has seen no cases of this happening.

9:16: 21 AM

M5. FENUM Al, in response to a question from Chair Lynn, said
she has been told that norticians are required by law only to
notify the Social Security Adm nistration that soneone has died;
they are not required to notify the Division of Elections or the
Division of Mtor Vehicles (DW). In response to a followup
guestion, she said requiring norticians to report deaths to
other entities may be hel pful, but norticians may not be able to
handl e that. She added, "We would take the information in
whatever form we could get to make sure our rolls are as
accurate and conplete as possible.”

CHAIR LYNN related that when his grandparents died, he
imrediately notified the Social Security Adm nistration, but
continued to receive social security checks for six nonths. He
said, "That's scary."

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 18- February 18, 2010



M5. FENUM Al noted that when funeral homes in Alaska report
information to the state's Bureau of Vital Statistics, the
division can get that information from the bureau. In response
to a question from Chair Lynn, she offered further details
regarding the process of obtaining the information from the
Bureau of Vital Statistics' database on a nonthly basis. In
response to a followup question, she said she does not know how
long it takes for [information related to a death certificate]
to reach the Division of Elections.

9: 20: 38 AM

M5. FENUM Al, in response to Representative Petersen, said under
HB 115, +the division would not have to process a voter's
application every year if he/she chose to be a permanent
absentee voter, so there is potential that the proposed bil
could cut down on the nunber of applications the division would
process. However, sending a confirmation notice every other
year is standard procedure, so there would still be a cost
involved in printing and mailing letters, and staff tine. She
stated that the $20,000 reflected in the fiscal note is a valid
expense and is "sonething that would help protect the integrity
of the process."”

9:21:32 AM

M5. FENUM AI, in response to a question from Representative
Gatto, said she does not know whether or not confirmation
notices can be forwarded. She stated that ballots are
definitely not forwardable. She said, "I think we send them out
‘return service requested,’ which neans it's not forwarded; we
get a notice back that there's an address change on ... file."

She said she would have to verify that with the group of staff
t hat addresses absentee ball ots.

CHAIR LYNN remarked that the division would not know whether a
person had noved to a | ocation or was there just on vacati on.

M5. FENUM Al responded that is correct.

9:22:46 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO stated that he has issues with "permanent
anyt hi ng. " He said he has filled out the permanent fund
application for approximately 25 years, and making everyone fill

out an application each year shows that the applicant is alive
and verifies <certain details. He suggested allowing the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -19- February 18, 2010



Division of Elections and the Pernmanent Fund Division to cross
check each other's information.

9:24: 30 AM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH responded that [HB 115] addresses the issue
of voting. It is the Division of Elections' obligation, in
conjunction with USPS, to oversee fraud. He deferred to M.

Fenum ai for further conment.
9: 25: 33 AM

M5. FENUM Al, regarding Representative Gatto's idea to allow the
two divisions to crosscheck their information, expressed concern
that that may result in problens in the case where soneone does
not collect a permanent fund dividend (PFD) but wants an
absentee ballot. She said she thinks that is a question for
Legislative Legal and Research  Servi ces or a |awer.
Not wi t hst andi ng that, she said the division could have access to
the Permanent Fund Division's information, because the two
di visions do share information currently.

9:26: 25 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON remarked that the residency requirenents
for voting and the PFD are quite different. For exanple, he
offered his understanding that the residency requirenent is 30
days. He asked at what point a person would be renoved fromthe
per manent absentee voting |ist.

9:27:15 AM

M5. FENUM Al said under HB 115, the only reason a person would
be renmoved from the permanent absentee list is if his/her ballot
was returned undeliverable to the division. At that point, the
person would not be sent any further ballots until he/she had
notified the division of an updated nmailing address.

9:27:34 AM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH asked Representative Seaton to clarify his
guesti on.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON said he wants to know if there should be
| anguage in the proposed legislation that if there are a certain
nunber of election cycles for which the absentee ballots are not
returned, then the permanent voting status would end.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 20- February 18, 2010



9:30: 25 AM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH indicated that that issue is addressed in
the bill, and he deferred to Ms. Fenumi ai for further comment.

9:30:41 AM

M5. FENUM Al explained that under HB 115, if a ballot is sent
out and returned to the division undeliverable, the intended

recipient will no longer receive any future ballots. There is
no |l anguage in the bill that specifies that if a person does not
return a ballot after so many years, his/her nanme would be
removed from the division's |ist. She said there are other

provisions in state |law such that voters who do not vote and
have no contact with the division are "scheduled to be targeted
to be renmoved and inactivated fromthe voter list"; however, she
stated that that is a separate process from the permanent
absent ee process.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON questioned if the purpose of permanent
absentee voting is to cut down on the amount of work that, for
exanple, a senior citizen has to go through every year. He said
having the permanent status renpved after a certain anmount of
years with no returned ballot would "sol ve sone of the problens”
he perceives.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH said he thinks that is an excellent idea
that he will carry out prior to the next conmttee neeting.

9:32: 22 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO asked the bill sponsor if he is presenting
HB 115 because he believes it will "create better governnent."

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH answered, "Absolutely.”

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO suggested that the proposed |egislation
would make it easier for those who do not care about voting to
have a ballot in their hands, and he asked Representative Buch
if he believes that will create better governnent.

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH responded that he thinks nost people who get
a ballot are responsible and wll make a choice based on
appropriate information. He added, "And that Is the
avai lability that the government offers.”

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -21- February 18, 2010



9:33:29 AM

CHAIR LYNN remarked that a variety of people vote and the voting
system wor ks wel | .

9:33: 54 AM

AL DAVIDSON told the conmttee that he previously served for
over 20 years as a county clerk and chief elections officer in
Marion County, Oegon, serving the capital city of Salem
Oregon, and he helped wite nost of the Ilegislation and

procedures for Oregon's all-mail elections. He told conmttee
menbers that it is inportant to keep in mnd that they are not
considering a total vot e- by- mai | system but rather are

considering the frequency of applications for absentee ball ots.
He said he thinks the legislature's consideration of HB 115
represents recognition of voters' sentinent in wanting el ection
processes to be nore accessible while allowing the division to
retain sufficient control to ensure fair elections.

MR. DAVIDSON said every tine there is a change in election |aw,
the issues of wvalid access and election integrity nmust be
wei ghed. He opined that [HB 115] is an opportunity to inprove
access w thout any detrinental inpact on election integrity, and
that creation of a permanent absentee voter application is a
step that inproves not only the voters' access to the ballot,
but significantly reduces admnistrative activity and inproves
efficiency in the admnistration of elections. He relayed that
before the State of Oregon's citizens voted 70 percent in favor
of all-mail balloting in 1998, a change was nade to permanent
rat her than annual absentee applications. He said that initia
change resulted in an "imedi ate response” by citizens, as well
as a significant reduction in the state's admnistrative task in
handl i ng applications on an annual basis - one of the nost |abor
i ntensi ve tasks involved in the el ection process.

MR. DAVIDSON related that in Colorado, permanent absentee
applications have been available for only a few years, but
already, in the county in which he lives, 70 percent of the
voters have signed up to be pernmanent absentee voters. In the
2008 election, 72 percent of those voting chose to do so
absentee and were signed up as permanent absentee voters, he
report ed. The turnout by absentee voters during the
Presidential election was nearly 193,000, conpared to the 44,000
voters who went to the polls. He said, "I can't inmagine what ny
office would be like if | had to process 193,000 absentee
applications every single year." He pointed out that permanent

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -22- February 18, 2010



absent ee voting reduces the burden on the citizen to renmenber to
apply annually, although they have the option to do so. M.
Davi dson concluded by stating that he sees no downside to HB
115.

9:38:11 AM

MR. DAVIDSON offered further response to the previously asked
guesti ons. He said the processes for getting people off the
voting rolls who have not had contact with the elections office
after a significant period of tine are specified based on the
Nati onal Voter Registration Act of 1993 and the Help Anmerica
Vote Act of 2002, and he said Alaska could augnent those
processes with its own state law and regul ations. That has
happened in Oregon and in Colorado. He said he is famliar with
many adm ni strative processes by which to nake that happen. M.
Davi dson offered his understanding that one issue that had not
been nentioned was that of security in absentee balloting and

all-mail Dballoting. He said the signature on every single
ballot that is returned is checked against the signature that is
on the voter registration rolls. He characterized that process

as "the ultinmate el enent of security.”
9:39:19 AM

JEFFREY A. M TTMAN, Executive Director, American Cvil Liberties
Union (ACLU) of Al aska Foundation, said ACLU is concerned with
the rights of Al askans wunder the U S Constitution and the
Constitution of the State of Al aska, and he enphasized that the
nost fundanmental right is the right to vote. He reported that
ACLU research has found that permanent absentee voter status is

an inmportant tool in increasing participation in voting and
denocr acy. He said the findings show that there have been
"mnimal, if any," instances of fraud resulting from [allow ng
per mmnent absentee voting]. He thanked the conmttee for

considering the bill.
9:40: 16 AM

LARRY BENSON, President, American Postal Wrkers Union Anerican
Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations
(APW AFL-CIO - Mdnight Sun Area Local 2756, relayed that he
approached Representative Buch with the idea for the proposed

| egi sl ati on. He stated, "The sanctity of the ballot 1is
paranount to process." He said USPS has been delivering vital
docunents for over 200 years. Those working for the USPS have

submtted to background checks, drug screening, and are held to

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 23- February 18, 2010



the U S. Code of Conduct and ethics laws. Furthernore, he said,
USPS has internal enforcenent agencies - the Ofice of the
| nspector General and the Postal |nspection Service - which work
closely with the Federal Bureau of Investigation to protect
public mail fraud. M. Benson said USPS is currently the only
delivery service that can handle absentee ballots, and would
like to continue that as such. He indicated that USPS is well
equi pped with the machinery necessary to process nail and get
ballots to citizens and back to the division in a tinmely manner.
He said there is a central forwarding system that alerts posta
wor kers when mail is returned. He noted that, as nentioned by
Ms. Fenumai, [absentee ballots] are sent "return service
requested,” so that if the recipient is no |longer at the address
listed, the mail is returned.

9:42:14 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG asked M. Mttman, "Since this would
i nvol ve a change in Al askans' voting procedure, wuld it have to

get preclearance?" He observed that M. Fenum ai was nodding
yes. In response to Chair Lynn, he said preclearance is related
to Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965. He then

suggested that HB 115 proposes sonmething simlar to that which
is offered by DW.

M5. FENUM Al said she does not have any direct experience with
DW requirenments, but offered her understanding that a person
can renew his/her vehicle registration on |ine. In response to
Representative Guenberg, she said the division would be fine
wi th changing the effective date to 2011.

9:44: 26 AM

CHAI R LYNN cl osed public testinony.

9:44: 34 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG noved to adopt Conceptual Anmendnent 1,
as foll ows:

On page 5, line 24:
Change "2010" to "2011"

There being no objection, Conceptual Amendnent 1 was adopt ed.

9:45: 00 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 24- February 18, 2010



REPRESENTATI VE PETERSEN recollected that while canpaigning,
several of his constituents asked himif they had to apply for
an absentee ballot if they had voted absentee in the past. Sone
people actually assuned that once they signed up to vote
absentee, they would continue to receive absentee ballots. Sone
of the constituents were elderly, he said, and it nmay have been
difficult for themto remenber the last tinme they filled out an

application to receive an absentee ballot. He stated that one
of the biggest conplaints of voters is finding the tine to get
to the election polls and waiting in long lines to vote. He

surm sed that, based on the information from [M. Davidson], 70
percent of the people in his county had applied for permanent
absentee voting, and adopting the proposed |I|egislation may
shorten the lines at the polls considerably and also reduce
stress on volunteers working at the polling places. He
concluded by stating that he thinks HB 115 is a good bill.

9:47: 07 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON noved to adopt Conceptual Amendnent 2, to
remove a voter's name from the permanent absentee voter status
if that voter fails to return all ballots within a full election
cycl e. In response to Chair Lynn, he stated, "That would
conceptually fit in this bill under the status of [an]
application.”

9:48: 23 AM

M5. FENUM Al, in response to Representative Guenberg, said the
di vision could accommopdate [Conceptual Anendnent 2], but she
said she does not know if there are any |l|egal problens
associated with it.

9:48: 39 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG renmoved his objection to Conceptual
Amendrent 2, but said he wants Ms. Fenumiai to be able to | ook
at the wording when the anendnent is incorporated into the
proposed bill.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON said that would be fine with him He said
he thinks it is best to offer the anmendnment before the House
State Affairs Standing Conmttee.

9:49: 27 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 25- February 18, 2010



REPRESENTATI VE BUCH expressed appreciation for the commttee's
i ndul gence and diligence, and he said he thinks "a conceptua
amendnent at this point would be appropriate.”

REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG asked that Representative Seaton work
with "these folks" to ensure they are confortable with the
resul ti ng | anguage.

9:50: 07 AM

REPRESENTATI VE = SEATON, in response to a request from
Representative WIlson for clarification of Conceptual Anmendnent
2, reiterated the intent of the amendnent.

9:50: 37 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG asked Ms. Fenumiai what the current
practice is now regarding |eaving sonmeone's name on the voter
rolls.

M5. FENUM Al responded that a person not voting is not a reason
on its own for the division to renove that person fromthe voter
registration rolls. She explained that to trigger "the whole
purgi ng process," a person wuld have to not vote and not have
contact with the division for four cal endar years.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON clarified that Conceptual Anmendnent 2
woul d not renove anyone from the voter registration roll; it
woul d only renove himher from permanent absentee voter status.
The person could reapply. He said the intent of the anendnent
is so that the division does not send ballots year after year
wi t hout having any of them returned.

9:53:41 AM

MR. DAVIDSON, in response to Representative Guenberg, said in
Col orado, if a person does not vote - whether at the polling
pl ace or through absentee ballot - [the entity in charge of
Col orado's elections] takes appropriate action based upon what
it finds out. Oten the person has noved and, although nost

ballots cone back when wundeliverable, sonetinmes they are
del i ver ed. He stated that he thinks [Conceptual Amendnent 2]
woul d of fer an effective approach.

9:54:11 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 26- February 18, 2010



REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG restated that he had renoved his
objection to the notion to adopt Conceptual Amendnment 2. There
being no further objection, it was so ordered.

9:54: 34 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG noved to report HB 115, as anended, out
of commttee wth i ndi vi dual reconmendat i ons and t he
acconpanying fiscal notes. There being no objection, CSHB

115(STA) was reported from the House State Affairs Standing
Conmi ttee.

9:55: 04 AM

REPRESENTATI VE BUCH t hanked conmmitt ee.

9:55: 55 AM

ADJ QURNIVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Committee neeting was adjourned at 9:56
a. m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -27- February 18, 2010



